RECEIVED

Jan 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL TIVEN BOLTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001327

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by invading the attorney-client privilege in ruling on appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea?

2. Whether the trial court's opinion that a motion to withdraw a guilty plea was unheard of and would create a dangerous precedent that would allow anyone to withdraw a guilty plea was an error of law and an abuse of discretion?

3. Whether the trial court erred in failing to conform appellant's sentencing sheets to reflect the court's verbal sentencing decision to grant appellant credit for time served while on monitored house arrest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for murder, attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime following a shooting in Charleston County on December 22, 2019. R. 55-60. The state alleged Appellant and a companion, Michael Whitlock, opened fire following an argument with other patrons at a party. R. 3, l. 14 – 6, l. 18. The argument stemmed from the behavior of Phillip Green and Whitlock’s girlfriend during the course of the party. R. 3, l. 23 – 5, l. 9.

During the shooting, the state alleged the weapon fired by appellant struck and permanently injured Phillip Green, the participant in the argument with appellant and Whitlock. R. 5, l. 10 – 6, l. 6. The weapon fired by Whitlock struck and killed Shaquanna Myers who was rendering aid to the injured Green. R. 6, ll. 7 - 9.

Appellant’s initial appearance on a negotiated sentence plea was conducted before the Honorable Bentley Price on July 20, 2023. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Mark Peper, and Jennifer Shealy appeared on behalf of the state. R. 1. Appellant indicated that he would be pleading guilty to attempted murder and the possession of a weapon charge, and entering an Alford¹ plea as to the murder charge, with a negotiated sentence of thirty years. R. 3, l. 3 – 4, l. 5. Finalization of the plea and sentencing was delayed until August 7, 2023.

By written motion filed by additional counsel, Eduardo Curry, appellant requested to withdraw his guilty plea on August 4, 2023. R. 48. During the hearing on August 7, 2023, Curry argued that appellant should be allowed to withdraw his plea due, in part, to appellant’s confusion concerning the laws of self-defense and accomplice liability. R. 15, ll. 7 – 16. As noted by Curry, appellant’s self-defense claim centered on the action of Green in reaching for something at his

¹North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

waist during the heated argument. R. 16, l. 20 – 17, l. 2. The only basis for the murder charge was the allegation that appellant and Whitlock acted in concert since Whitlock opened fire after appellant had stopped firing. R. 17, ll. 3 – 11. As argued before the trial court, appellant was “not alleging ineffective assistance of counsel” but was asking for the withdrawal since the legal concepts were so “confusing that a layperson could not properly decipher it, even with a lawyer.” R. 18, ll. 13 – 18.

In response, the solicitor suggested questioning Peper, who still represented appellant, concerning Peper’s practices related to advising clients before guilty pleas:

Also, your Honor, *I think it would be wise for us to inquire of Mr. Peper.* There is a practice amongst a bunch of criminal defense attorneys now to engage in advising their clients not only orally, but reducing that to writing. And if Mr. Peper in fact has that, if your Court -- if the Court just wants to look at it himself and not share it with others, that's fine.

R. 20, l. 24 – 21, l. 5 (emphasis added).

In response to the state’s suggestion, Judge Price questioned appellant’s counsel about his practices concerning advising clients.

THE COURT: Mr. Peper, do you reduce any of those to writing or not? Is that a common practice or not something you engage in?

MR. PEPER: It is a common practice of mine, Judge. It is. And there's a handful of lawyers around town that do it.

THE COURT: All right. Do you have that document? I can take an in-camera review of it.

MR. PEPER: I do. *You know, Judge, I'm in a weird spot here.*

R. 21, l. 16 – 23 (emphasis added).

Addressing the “weird spot” which the court was placing appellant’s counsel, Judge Price acknowledged the problem the court was creating:

Well, you are. And here's the reason why, which is why I'm not going to question you about anything apart from whether you have that document or not because obviously if this becomes an issue down the road, then he still has all his appellate PCR rights. So that's why the Court's just inquired whether you have it. Do you feel comfortable with me taking an in-camera review of it?

R. 21, l. 24 – 22, l. 5.

Peper indicated that “my only concern, to be candid to you, is because there hasn't been a sup [substitution] order filed or anything that, you know, I consented to that would be a privilege that still exists between us. I know once you file a PCR that goes away. But I'll do whatever the Court deems it wants to do.” R. 22, ll. 6 – 11.

Again, the state pushed for Judge Price to review the written documentation regarding Peper’s protected consultations with Appellant:

And if Mr. Peper's document that he uses is similar to other ones that I've seen, I think it will show us whether or not -- and when I say "us," your Honor can look at it and obviously not share that with either me – I guess Mr. Curry would want to see it, but I don't necessarily need to see it.

But it would explain whether or not there was a logical presentation made to Mr. Bolton as to consequences of what he's pleading to, and if in fact the crimes were separate and he was advised accordingly, and that the sentence that was part of the plea deal. That would be the best evidence right now.

R. 23, ll. 2 – 13.

Judge Price acknowledged he was, in effect, operating as a PCR judge by invading the attorney-client privilege. “Yeah, but I'm concerned to the extent that I'm putting myself as the PCR judge at this point in time if that's what he's going to assert later on down the road.” R. 23, l. 25 – 24, l. 2.

Despite the objections that it invaded the attorney-client privilege and that the court was stepping into the role of a PCR judge, Judge Price received the affidavit created by Peper that allegedly memorialize his discussions with appellant regarding the guilty plea.² Judge Price then quoted extensively from this affidavit, that was protected by the attorney-client privilege, to reject appellant's motion to withdraw. R. 30, l. 6 – 32, l. 5. In addition, Judge Price opined in ruling on the motion to withdraw the plea “that the request by the defense would set a precedent that would be basically unheard of” and that he was not going to set a precedent that would “allow somebody to simply just say that they don't want to plead guilty anymore after they have already pled guilty.” R. 32, l. 22 – 33 l. 4.

Following victim impact evidence and witnesses in mitigation, Judge Price sentenced appellant to the negotiated term of thirty years for murder. R. 46, ll. 3 – 8. For the other two charges, which did not have negotiated sentences, Judge Price sentenced appellant to thirty-eight years for attempted murder and five years for the weapon charge. R. 46, ll. 8 – 11.

This appeal follows.

² Court's Exhibit 1 is the affidavit prepared by Peper and signed by appellant and is included in the Record on Appeal.

ARGUMENT

1. The trial court abused its discretion by invading the attorney-client privilege in ruling on appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

A. Standard of Review.

“The withdrawal of a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Riddle, 278 S.C. 148, 150, 292 S.E.2d 795, 796 (1982); State v. Rikard, 371 S.C. 295, 301, 638 S.E.2d 72, 75 (Ct. App. 2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Bickham, 381 S.C. 143, 147, 672 S.E.2d 105, 107 (2009).

B. Invading the attorney-client privilege in ruling a motion to withdraw a guilty plea was an abuse of discretion.

The attorney-client privilege is vital to the proper functioning of our legal system. “This privilege is based upon a wise public policy that considers that the interests of society are best promoted by inviting the utmost confidence on the part of the client in disclosing his secrets to his professional advisor, under the pledge of the law that such confidence should not be abused by permitting disclosure of such communications.” State v. Love, 275 S.C. 55, 59, 271 S.E.2d 110, 112 (1980)(quoting S.C. State Highway Dep't v. Booker, 260 S.C. 245, 195 S.E.2d 615 (1973)). “The privilege belongs to the client and, unless waived by him, survives even his death.” State v. Doster, 276 S.C. 647, 650–51, 284 S.E.2d 218, 219 (1981).

Here, the trial court abused its discretion by invading the attorney-client privilege and requiring testimony and documentation from Appellant's attorney regarding discussions protected by the attorney-client privilege in ruling upon the motion to withdraw the plea. Curry, appellant's additional counsel who argued to withdraw the plea, specifically told the court appellant “came to

me because he wanted me to file a motion to withdraw his plea. Judge, we're not alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. We're alleging that this was so confusing that a layperson could not properly decipher it, even with a lawyer.” R. 19, ll. 14 – 17. Curry asked the court to exercise discretion, allow the withdrawal, and set the matter for immediate trial. R. 19, l. 23 – 10, l. 8.

At this stage, the court could have exercised its discretionary judgment and either granted or denied the motion under State v. Riddle, 278 S.C. 148, 292 S.E.2d 795 (1982). Instead, at the prompting of the solicitor, the trial court elected to examine appellant’s attorney, Peper, about his typical approach in dealing with guilty pleas and Peper’s specific interactions with appellant, including having appellant sign a lengthy affidavit allegedly memorializing those conversations before the initial plea hearing. R. 21, l. 16 – 23. The trial court obtained a copy of the affidavit signed by appellant and entered several portions of the affidavit into the record. R. 29, l. 5 – 31, l. 6. No testimony was provided regarding whether appellant fully understood the content of the affidavit or was merely presented with a document to sign by his attorney.

The testimony and documentation elicited by the trial court from appellant’s counsel on this point was a matter more properly addressed in a post-conviction relief action rather than a motion to withdraw the guilty plea. *See State v. Bonilla*, 429 S.C. 253, 273–74, 838 S.E.2d 1, 11 (Ct. App. 2019) (“As such, because [appellant] is challenging the actions of his attorney, his claim regarding Rule 1.6 would best be addressed in an action for ineffective assistance of counsel, which this court is precluded from hearing on direct appeal.”). During a post-conviction relief action, when ineffective assistance of counsel forms a basis for relief, the “applicant shall be deemed to have waived the attorney-client privilege with respect to both oral and written communications between counsel and the defendant, and between retained or appointed experts and the defendant,

to the extent necessary for prior counsel to respond to the allegation.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-130 (1976 as amended).

By contrast, here the Record is devoid of any testimony surrounding appellant’s understanding of the discussions, the setting of those discussions, the explanations offered by Peper surrounding the affidavit, any pressures or assertions that signing was mandated, or any other information that would provide this Court guidance on whether appellant had knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived the attorney-client privilege. As such, this Court would not be able to review waiver of the attorney-client privilege on direct appeal, in contrast to Bonilla where the trial court conducted a hearing and made findings of fact on waiver. It was improper for the trial court to invade the attorney-client privilege, including questioning Peper regarding his direct communications with appellant and the affidavit concerning those discussions. The trial court noted this created a problem for appellant’s counsel and that it delved into matters proper reserved for post-conviction relief:

The trial court acknowledged the problem this inquiry would create:

Well, you are [in a weird spot]. And here's the reason why, which is why I'm not going to question you about anything apart from whether you have that document or not because obviously if this becomes an issue down the road, then he still has all his appellate PCR rights. So that's why the Court's just inquired whether you have it. Do you feel comfortable with me taking an in-camera review of it?

R. 20, l. 24 – 21, l. 5.

The trial court’s concern was well founded. “Although the Sixth Amendment right to counsel is distinguishable from the attorney-client privilege, the two concepts overlap in many ways. The right to counsel would be meaningless without the protection of free and open communication between client and counsel. The United States Supreme Court has noted that

‘conferences between counsel and accused ... sometimes partake of the inviolable character of the confessional.’” State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 446, 527 S.E.2d 105, 107–08 (2000) (*quoting Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45, 61 (1932)).

The trial court’s action of questioning appellant’s counsel regarding conversations protected by the attorney-client privilege and the related documentation without a proper basis, such as the statutory waiver of the attorney-client privilege found in S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-130, was an abuse of discretion. This error of law impacted the trial court’s discretionary ruling, as the trial court read into the record several portions of the protected material in support of its ruling. R. 30, 1. 6 – 32, 1. 5.

This Court should reverse.

2. The trial court’s opinion that a motion to withdraw a guilty plea was unheard of and would create a dangerous precedent that would allow anyone to withdraw a guilty plea was an error of law and an abuse of discretion.

As noted, the “withdrawal of a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” Riddle, 278 S.C. at 150, 292 S.E.2d at 796. However, the “failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion.” State v. Hawes, 411 S.C. 188, 191, 767 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015) (*quoting* Samples v. Mitchell, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1997)). Thus, the use of restraints on the accused during a jury trial, while a discretionary matter, required the court to make a ruling on their necessity. *See* State v. Heyward, 441 S.C. 484, 494, 895 S.E.2d 658, 663 (2023). During sentencing, the failure to exercise statutory discretion by interpreting such discretion as being mandatory is an abuse of discretion. *See* State v. Hawes, 411 S.C. 188, 191, 767 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015) (holding the trial court erred in believing its discretion in ruling on early parole was constrained by the language of the statute).

Here, the trial court did not acknowledge that allowing a withdrawal of a guilty plea was a discretionary ruling. In fact, the trial court indicated “that the request by the defense would set a precedent that would be *basically unheard of*” and that the court was not going to “allow somebody to simply just say that they don’t want to plead guilty anymore after they have already pled guilty.” R. 32, l. 22 – 33 l. 4. These statements establish that the trial court misconstrued the discretionary nature of allowing the withdrawal of a guilty plea.

To the contrary, motions to withdraw a plea are neither “unheard of” nor do they establish a precedent allowing universal withdrawal. In fact, trial counsel would have been ineffective had he not filed a motion to withdraw the guilty plea. Our Supreme Court noted the proper response of plea counsel when the client indicates that they have changed their mind about pleading guilty

is a motion to withdraw the plea. Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 683 S.E.2d 471 (2009). In Rolen, after family members of the victim addressed the court, the defendant told the court “All right, this has went on far enough, I didn't kill this man.” Id., 384 S.C. at 411, 683 S.E.2d at 473. Rather than step in and move to withdraw the plea, plea counsel did nothing since he believed “once the plea was accepted, it was final and could not be withdrawn.” Id., 384 S.C. at 412, 683 S.E.2d at 473. Our Supreme Court found counsel was deficient for failing to move to withdraw the plea, and ultimately remanded the matter to the trial court for a hearing on whether the plea court would have allowed a withdrawal of the guilty plea had the proper motion been made. Id., 384 S.C. at 413–14, 683 S.E.2d at 474.

The trial court’s assertion that the motion to withdraw was “unheard of” and would establish a dangerous precedent indicates a failure to exercise the proper discretion inherent in a plea setting: allowing a withdrawal of the plea on motion as a discretionary ruling. R. 32, l. 22 – 33 l. 4. As a failure to exercise discretion is an abuse of discretion, this Court should reverse the decision of the trial court and remand the matter for a new hearing on appellant’s motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

3. The trial court erred in failing to conform appellant’s sentencing sheets to reflect the court’s verbal sentencing decision to grant appellant credit for time served while on monitored house arrest.

Prior to sentencing appellant, the trial court heard argument from the state and appellant’s counsel regarding credit for the 1,333 days appellant spent under house arrest pending sentencing.

R. 44, l. 1 – 46, l. 1. In announcing the sentence, the trial stated:

Pursuant to the negotiated sentence, I'm going to submit Mr. Bolton to the South Carolina Department of Corrections for a term of 30 years. I'm going to give him credit under the -- South Carolina Department of Corrections will deem appropriate, and *I'll give him credit for what he's already served.*

R. 46, ll. 2 – 7 (emphasis added).

The solicitor then requested clarification on the credit for time spent under house arrest pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2023). In reply, the trial court ruled that appellant was entitled to credited for the time spent while appellant was “out on bond”:

MS. SHEALY: Your Honor, just to make sure I understood you, you are giving him - not giving him -

THE COURT: No, the Department of Corrections will

MS. SHEALY: *credit while he was out on bond?*

THE COURT: *Yeah, they'll do all that.*

MS. SHEALY: Okay.

R. 46, ll. 15 – 20 (emphasis added).


Despite orally ruling that appellant was entitled to credit for the period he was on bond under house arrest, the sentencing sheets failed to properly reflect this ruling. R. 61-66. “[D]ue process requires the judge's oral pronouncement control over a conflicting written sentencing order.” Boan v. State, 388 S.C. 272, 277, 695 S.E.2d 850, 852 (2010). Here, the sentencing sheets

failed to properly credit appellant with time served pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2023) as mandated by the trial court's oral ruling.

This Court should reverse the trial court and remand this matter for correction of the sentencing sheets to properly reflect the trial court's oral ruling regarding credit for time served under S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (2023).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments, this Court should reverse the decision of the lower court and remand this matter for a new hearing on appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. Additionally, a remand is appropriate to conform the sentencing sheets to the oral ruling regarding appellant's credit for time served while under house arrest.



Gary H Johnson
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT