RECEIVED

Jan 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL TIVEN BOLTON,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001327

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. SCARLETT WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401-2214
(843) 958-1900

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

the basis that he was confused by the nature of his case and defenses. The nature of this claim draws into question the same type of matters that are addressed by plea counsel, the defendant, or both during a plea colloquy. As demonstrated below, such matters are not shielded by attorney-client-privilege in such circumstances, and they are especially not so protected when the defendant has specifically brought them into dispute. *State v. Doster*, 276 S.C. 647, 651, 284 S.E.2d 218, 220 (1981) (noting that not all communications between attorney and client are privileged); *United States v. Zolin*, 491 U.S. 554, 565, 109 S. Ct. 2619, 2627, 105 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1989) (noting that there was no provision within the federal rules of evidence that would preclude in-camera review of materials claimed under attorney-privilege, and that prohibiting such by way of federal common law would be unwise). “The determination of whether the privilege applies is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and his decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Love*, 275 S.C. 55, 271 S.E.2d 110 (1980). Here, the court exercised that discretion appropriately by first reviewing the affidavit in-camera, finding it unprotected by privilege, and then admitting it as evidence along with a thorough recitation of why the affidavit defeated a claim for withdrawal.

Appellant’s argument that his affidavit (or its general subject-matter) is protected under attorney-client privilege is erroneous on multiple grounds. First, it should be noted that neither Appellant nor his newly retained attorney Mr. Curry, objected to the in-camera review of the affidavit, nor did they object to its introduction as a court exhibit. Only Mr. Peper raised any concern of attorney-client privilege, and he was not representing Petitioner for purposes of the motion. Attorney-client privilege can only be waived by the client, and the failure to address the issue or object in any way constitutes a failure to preserve for appellate review this claim of error by the trial court and a waiver of any supposed privilege.

Regardless, Respondent would argue that attorney-client privilege simply does not attach here. Most obviously, attorney-client privilege does not attach to the affidavit because the affidavit itself expressly states that privilege would not attach. Appellant provided a sworn acknowledgment that the affidavit: “will be used in connection *with the above-referenced matter*, including the fact that it may be filed with the Court and made part of the public record of *this matter*¹⁰ in the future, if necessary.” (Court’s Exhibit 1, p. 1). The very purpose of a sworn affidavit is that its authenticity and reliability *can be made known to others*, such a purpose is the antithesis of confidentiality. The plea court’s reference to subsection 3 and its reliance upon that clause in finding the affidavit not protected by attorney-client privilege was a decision made well within the court’s discretion.

Next, Respondent would argue that the substance of the affidavit, and as a practical matter the substance of all plea colloquies, is simply not protected communications under the attorney-client privilege. Attorney-client privilege “is not absolute: Not every communication within the attorney and client relationship is privileged. The public policy protecting confidential communications must be balanced against the public interest in the proper administration of justice.” *State v. Doster*, 276 S.C. 647, 651, 284 S.E.2d 218, 220 (1981) (internal citations omitted). The substance of plea colloquies is a perfect example of where the public policy need for assuring the proper administration of justice makes exception for the most basic communications concerning a client’s representation. The need for administration of justice in such circumstances flows from the constitutional protections afforded a defendant under *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969) and *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

¹⁰ The nature of the phrasing here demonstrates that the affidavit was not referencing “new matters” such as potential PCR actions.

In this case, as is true for most cases, the superficial nature in which these topics are examined demonstrates that they bear no confidentiality – collectively they merely demonstrate that 1) Appellant was criminally charged, 2) that he was represented by counsel in relation to those charges, 3) that his attorney discussed the relevant discovery, defenses, consequences, and constitutional rights that derive, and 4) that Appellant understood those discussions. The failure to articulate any specific details to those topics leaves no question that the content of the affidavit is not confidential in nature. “Attorney-client privilege protects a client and any other person from disclosing *confidential* communications made to counsel relative to a legal matter.” *State v. Doster*, 276 S.C. 647, 651, 284 S.E.2d 218, 220 (1981) (citing generally *McCormick on Evidence* § 87 (E. Cleary, 3rd Ed.1984)). In all guilty plea proceedings, the substance of this disputed affidavit is the same substance as the permissible and indeed encouraged colloquy questions of the court, and both the defendant and counsel are compelled to answer the court’s questions for the purposes of confirming the defendant’s understanding of his rights and consequences of his plea, as well as confirming that counsel has independently advised his client on these matters so that the defendant can make an informed decision. *United States v. Thompson*, No. 08cr209, 2009 WL 212076, at *1, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7304, at *1–*2 (D. Me. Jan. 29, 2009) (plea court asked defense counsel “Are you satisfied that the Defendant has pleaded guilty because he is actually guilty” and noting defense counsel's unsuccessful assertion of attorney-client privilege in response); *Carbajal v. United States*, No. 4:11cr186, 2016 WL 3912049, at *1–*3, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93803, at *2–*6 (E.D. Tex. June 21, 2016), report and recommendation adopted, No. 4:11cr186(1), 2016 WL 3901009, U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93196 (E.D. Tex. July 18, 2016) (unpublished) (noting that the colloquy with defense counsel regarding the defendant's competency, discussions with the defendant, and agreement with the defendant's plea).

Stated simply, a defendant cannot on the one hand demand that his plea only be accepted if demonstrated to be knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered, and on the other hand refuse to answer (and prohibit counsel from answering) the specific types of questions that would establish or defeat that standard. The substance of this case is simply one of ensuring that the most basic fundamentals of attorney representation have been satisfied, it does not peel away protection of confidential communications that would reveal additional criminality, liability, personal matters, legal strategies, or substantive discussions of evidence.¹¹ As can be seen from the record testimony and the affidavit itself, the substance is unremarkable for any purpose other than establishing the necessary findings for a knowingly, voluntary, and intelligently entered guilty plea.

Ultimately, the questions of whether waiver of privilege arose by way of the affidavit's own text or by circumstantial necessity, or whether the affidavit is *inherently* not a privileged communication, are all academic for purposes of this appeal. The facts and law demonstrate the plea court was *within its discretion* to find the affidavit unprotected by privilege and within its discretion to appropriately rely upon it in denying the motion to withdraw. Appellant's arguments to the contrary demonstrate the completely incongruous nature of his position. Appellant has failed to demonstrate a basis to rescind his plea and the ruling of the court should therefore be affirmed.

II. There was no abuse of discretion in the court's denial of Appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

Appellant moved for withdrawal of his plea on the grounds that his case was so complex that he could not come to understand the intricacies of his defenses, and therefore did not enter an

¹¹ Ironically, Mr. Curry's arguments for withdrawal disclosed *in far more detail* communications that were shared between attorney and client regarding the intricate nature of his defenses, their perceived likelihood of success, and his alleged confusion regarding the case. Such provides a perfect demonstration of the faulty nature of Appellant's argument for privilege in this case.

intelligently made guilty plea. After receiving the motion to withdraw, and its facially doubtful foundation, the plea court nevertheless conducted a thorough hearing on the alleged merits of Appellant's motion and heard the State's case in opposition. The court also received and considered evidence in the form of Appellant's own affidavit which directly contradicted his stated arguments under the motion. (See Court's Exhibit 1, p. 2, subsection 8). With the arguments and evidence before it, and with explicit notice from the parties that the issue is one within the court's discretion, the court denied the motion while making factual findings relating to the evidence presented and the motives for the motion. The court's findings were not in conflict with any law, were well supported by the record, and the court's denial of relief was therefore *precisely* an exercise of discretion.

"The withdrawal of a guilty plea is generally within the sound discretion of the trial judge." *State v. Riddle*, 278 S.C. 148, 150, 292 S.E.2d 795, 796 (1982). A determination the plea was voluntarily entered "will normally show the trial judge did not abuse his discretion." *Id.* Abuse of discretion only arises when the decision is not supported by the evidence, or controlled by an error of law. *State v. Lopez*, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210, 212 (Ct. App. 2002). "A defendant is not entitled to withdraw his plea merely because he discovers long after the plea has been accepted that his calculus misapprehended the quality of the State's case or the likely penalties attached to alternative courses of action." *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 471, 765 S.E.2d 123, 130 (2014).

The court's articulation of its ruling and its denial of the motion were a proper exercise of discretion under the guiding law. In the case at hand, the court conducted a thorough recitation of the information that was derived from the colloquy and affidavit. In consideration of that information, and in satisfaction of *Riddle*, the court reiterated that it found the plea to be knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered. (Aug R., p. 30-33). The court further found that

the affidavit was a thorough demonstration of Appellant's understanding of the consequences of his plea, and that the release on bond was likely a cause for Appellant changing his mind. The court then rightfully articulated that a defendant is not entitled to withdraw his plea simply because he wants to. Though the court did not provide a citation to this legal maxim, its ruling was a reiteration of our Supreme Court's ruling in *Jamison*. The court's reference to "unheard" of precedent was apt, as to grant relief *despite its factual findings* would have been contrary to existing law.

Discretion does not afford the court with complete authority to rule in whatever way it wishes; it is still governed by the evidence presented and the applicable and controlling law. The court found that Appellant had not presented a valid basis for withdrawal and that his motion was simply one based on personal desire. The court rightfully noted that such does not entitle Appellant to relief and that the court would not set new precedent to the contrary. The ruling to deny the motion was an entirely appropriate exercise of discretion and should be affirmed.

III. The court did not err in "failing to conform Appellant's sentencing sheets," the sentencing sheets are a demonstration of the court's intentions during the hearing.

The court did not err in its sentencing of Appellant and in executing the sentencing sheets to reflect its ruling. The court's verbal articulation was unclear; it did not present an intent to grant credit for time served on monitored release. However, the issue is not preserved for appeal, as there was no motion filed to rectify Appellant's concern for the alleged discrepancy. Nevertheless, if the merits of the argument were to be reached, the other facts from the record demonstrate a stronger case that the court did not intend to grant credit for time served while on monitored release and sentencing sheets control in the event of ambiguity.

Appellant relies upon *Boan v. State*, 388 S.C. 272, 277, 695 S.E.2d 850, 852 (2010) for

his position, but he is twice mistaken in doing so. First, *Boan* is a review of a post-conviction relief hearing, and the Court explicitly notes that “[i]f trial counsel had made the appropriate motion regarding the sentencing discrepancy, the oral pronouncement would have controlled and Petitioner would have received the twenty-year sentence.” Therein, the Court has demonstrated the necessity that such a dispute be addressed by motion, and Appellant failed to file such a motion before seeking appellate relief. The issue is therefore unpreserved for direct appellate review.

Regardless, if the merits of the argument are considered, Appellant’s argument still fails. The record demonstrates that the request for credit under S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 was clearly before the court, and the statute delineates mandatory credit for time served in custody, and discretionary credit for time served on monitored release. The court’s repeated reference to SCDC calculating the credit for time served strongly supports that the court did not intend to grant time for monitored release, especially in the absence of a ruling that SCDC be provided the bondsman’s documentation to facilitate calculations beyond Appellant’s time in custody.

Boan articulates that oral sentencing controls when in conflict with written sentencing, but it does not address circumstances where the oral sentencing is ambiguous. Our courts hold differently when the matter is one of ambiguity, as opposed to incongruence. “Under ordinary circumstances, SCDC must determine the sentence imposed by the trial court from the sentencing sheets. *If there is some ambiguity in the sentencing sheets*, SCDC may examine the transcript of record to determine the intent of the sentencing judge. *Tant v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 395 S.C. 446, 449, 718 S.E.2d 753, 755 (Ct. App. 2011), *aff’d as modified*, 408 S.C. 334, 759 S.E.2d 398 (2014) (citing *Major v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 384 S.C. 457, 471, 682 S.E.2d 795, 802 (2009) (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (“[O]nly if there is an ambiguity in the sentences, must the Department or the court ascertain the intent of the judge....”) (emphasis added)). The Court in *Tant*

noted that “in this case, there is no ambiguity. Therefore, SCDC was limited to interpreting the sentencing sheets.”

Nowhere in the record does the court explicitly say that it is granting credit for time under monitored release. Instead, the court persistently referenced that SCDC would calculate and determine credit for time served. Such statements are *consistent with not granting credit for monitored release*, and such is consistent with the sentencing sheets in two ways. The sentencing sheets contain a specific box that is to be filled out which then permits credit for time served “to be calculated and applied by SCDOC.” That box was uniformly checked on all three sentencing sheets. However, the sentencing sheets also contain a separate box immediately below that permits credit for time served for monitored release. That box was uniformly left unchecked on all three sheets. Such is consistent with the court’s persistent reference to allowing SCDC to calculate his time served, and is consistent with the absence of an explicit award of credit for monitored house arrest.¹² While oral pronouncement of sentencing may control when the sentencing was clear, here the oral pronouncement is vague, the sentencing sheets are independently clear, and they more aptly provide clarity as to the court’s intention *against* credit for time served under monitored release.

Appellant’s argument in this matter is unpreserved for failure to first raise the dispute to the plea court’s attention via motion. Appellant’s argument would seek to have this court rely upon the unclear verbal communication of the court, at the expense of the clear and consistent sentencing sheets that are, in fact, arguably consistent with the stronger interpretation of the plea court’s verbal

¹² According to SCDC calculations, Appellant’s current projected release date is July 3, 2053. As, Appellant’s sentencing hearing was conducted on August 7, 2023, this would suggest that Appellant has received slightly more than a month of credit for time served, which is largely consistent with the supposed 41 days in custody referenced by defense counsel.

commentary. As such, Appellant is not entitled to relief in the form of credit for time served on monitored release.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.